NO. 46818-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Appellant

v.

MICHAEL FREDERICK WELLS, Respondent

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY
CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.13-1-01975-2

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK
Prosecuting Attorney
Clark County, Washington

AARON T. BARTLETT, WSBA #39710
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney
1013 Franklin Street
PO Box 5000
Vancouver WA 98666-5000
Telephone (360) 397-2261

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR FROM TRIAL COURT'S "ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO SUPPRESS [SIC]"

- a. The trial court erred in excluding the drug dog's alerts from the review of probable cause.
- b. The trial court erred in holding that there was not a nexus between Mr. Wells's vehicle and criminal activity.
- c. The trial court erred by applying the wrong legal standard when it isolated the facts and circumstances supporting the magistrate's probable cause determination and suggested that because each fact or circumstance by itself did not give rise to probable cause, that probable cause could not be found.
- d. The trial court erred in by reviewing the search warrant affidavit in a hypertechnical manner, resolving doubts against the validity of the warrant, and failing to give great deference to the magistrate's determination of probable cause.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR FROM TRIAL COURT'S "FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ON DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS AND ORDER OF DISMISSAL."

- a. The trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law #3.
- b. The trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law #4.

- c. The trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law #5.
- d. The trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law #6.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. **THE SEARCH WARRANT AFFIDAVIT SET FORTH FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES SUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH A REASONABLE INFERENCE THAT EVIDENCE OF CRIMINAL ACTIVITY COULD BE FOUND AT THE PLACE SEARCHED.**
- II. **THE MAGISTRATE DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT FOUND PROBABLE CAUSE TO SEARCH MR. WELLS'S VEHICLE FOR EVIDENCE OF CRIMINAL ACTIVITY.**

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Michael Wells was charged by information with Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver – Methamphetamine and Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Deliver - Heroin for an incident that happened on or about September 10, 2013. Supp. CP --. Each count also alleged the school bus stop route enhancement. Supp. CP --. The case proceeded to a CrR 3.6 hearing before The Honorable John Nichols on August 27, 2014. RP 1-91.

The court found that the stop of Mr. Wells was lawful. RP 55-56, CP 73-44 at Conclusion of Law #2. The court also held that the search

warrant that was executed on Mr. Wells's vehicle and led to his criminal charges was not supported by probable cause and suppressed the evidence found. CP 70, 75. Finding insufficient evidence to go forward with trial following the suppression of the evidence, the trial court dismissed the case. CP 75. The State filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 77.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Detective Jared Stevens of the Clark County Sheriff's Office's Tactical Detective Unit (TDU) authored a search warrant affidavit dated September 12, 2013, that led to the execution of a search warrant on Michael Wells's vehicle on September 13, 2013. The Affidavit in Support of Search Warrant is attached as Appendix-Exhibit 1. The Affidavit in Support of the Search warrant can be broken down into three parts: Detective Stevens's training, experience, and knowledge (pages 2-3, 8-9); Officer Rayan Starbuck's training, experience, and certification to include his K-9 Ory (pages 6-8); and the current investigation into Mr. Wells (pages 3-6, 8).

a. Detective Stevens's Training, Experience, and Knowledge.

Detective Stevens has worked for the Clark County Sheriff's office since 2007. Exhibit 1 at 2. In 2013, he was assigned to the Tactical Detective Unit. *Id.* In addition to completing the basic law enforcement

academy, Detective Stevens has participated in over 600 hours of additional training to include training on the investigation of narcotics crimes. *Id.* at 3. Detective Stevens has been involved in approximately 30 investigations that lead to arrests involving the possession and/or distribution of controlled substances. *Id.* As a result of his training and experience, Detective Stevens knows that narcotics dealers often store and/or hide money and controlled substances in small metal safes or lockboxes and in leather zipper bank pouches. *Id.* at 5. He is also familiar with the types of meetings and behaviors that are consistent with narcotics transactions. *Id.* at 4.

b. Officer Starbuck's and Ory's Training, Experience, and Certification.

Officer Starbuck has been with the Vancouver Police Department since 2005, and since 2012 he has been assigned to the Special Operations Division as a Police Canine Handler. Exhibit 1 at 6-7. As part of his current position, Officer Starbuck completed a ten week Patrol Dog Handler's course with Vancouver Police Service Canine, Ory. *Id.* at 7. That course involved at least 400 hours of training. *Id.* In addition, Ory is certified by the Washington State Criminal Justice Training Commission, the Washington State Police Canine Association, and the Oregon Patrol Canine Association as a Narcotics Detection Canine. *Id.* Ory is trained in

the detection of methamphetamine, crack cocaine, cocaine, marijuana, and heroin and, in fact, has found such drugs when deployed by Officer Starbuck. *Id.* at 8. Officer Starbuck and Ory attend an average of 6 hours of maintenance training a week which includes narcotics detection training. *Id.*

During his career, Officer Starbuck has been involved in over fifty cases as a primary or back up officer for controlled substances investigations involving marijuana, methamphetamine, heroin, and cocaine. *Id.* at 6. These cases have included possession of controlled substances, delivery of controlled substances, and identifying controlled substances. *Id.* As a Police Canine Handler, Officer Starbuck uses Ory to detect the odor of controlled substances in open areas, buildings, vehicles, and sealed containers. *Id.*

c. The Current Investigation

The investigation into drug trafficking in which probable cause was established to search Mr. Wells's vehicle began on September 10, 2013. Exhibit 1 at 3. On that date, officers were conducting surveillance on a Bryan Valdez. *Id.* Mr. Valdez, according to Confidential Reliable Informant (CRI), was still selling methamphetamine even though he, Mr. Valdez, had just been released from jail on the same charge. *Id.* at 4. Detective Stevens had recently served a search warrant on a vehicle

owned by Mr. Valdez and recovered 45 grams of field tested positive methamphetamine. *Id.*

During the surveillance, officers observed Mr. Valdez stop at a Krispy Kreme store. *Id.* He waited there until a silver Chevrolet Camaro arrived. Mr. Valdez exited his vehicle as did the male (Mr. Wells) who was driving the Camaro. *Id.* Shortly thereafter, both men sat inside the Camaro for about 20 minutes. While both men were still in the Camaro, two females exited the store; one of those females got into the Camaro with Mr. Wells and they left together. *Id.* Sergeant Hoss maintained surveillance on the Camaro, while other detectives continued to follow Mr. Valdez. Exhibit 1 at 4. Mr. Valdez was pulled over, and a K-9 alerted to the presence of narcotics within his vehicle. *Id.* Meanwhile, Sergeant Hoss followed the Camaro to a Goodwill store that Mr. Wells and the female entered and then stayed inside for about an hour. *Id.* Upon leaving the Goodwill, Sergeant Hoss observed the vehicle to be swerving and failing to maintain its lane of travel to the point where its rear tire struck a curb. *Id.* at 5. At this point, Sergeant Hoss conducted a traffic stop. *Id.* Detective Stevens arrived shortly afterwards to assist. *Id.*

Sergeant Hoss identified the driver as Mr. Wells and the passenger as Nora Thomas. *Id.* Ms. Thomas was not wearing a seatbelt and had an outstanding felony warrant for her arrest stemming from a drug charge. *Id.*

Detective Stevens learned she had been convicted for felony possession of a controlled substance. A search incident to Ms. Thomas's arrest turned up methamphetamine in her purse and in a small glass pipe. *Id.* Detective Stevens learned that Mr. Wells had no less than four prior convictions for possession of a controlled substance. Exhibit 1 at 5. Detective Stevens asked Mr. Wells if there were drugs in the vehicle, and Mr. Wells informed him that there was a little marijuana. *Id.*

While the investigation was ongoing, Detective Stevens noticed a small metal safe or lockbox on the floor in front of the driver's seat and a leather zipper bank pouch wedged between the driver's seat and the center console. *Id.* At that point, combined with the other observations and Detective Stevens's knowledge, he requested a K-9 unit to assist by conducting a sniff of the vehicle. *Id.* at 6. Officer Starbuck arrived with Ory, and Ory demonstrated a positive alert at the bottom seam of the driver's side door near the rear of the door, the passenger side door handle, and the bottom front portion of the passenger door seam. *Id.* at 8. Following the dog sniff, a search warrant was authorized and executed on Mr. Wells's vehicle and officers discovered, among other items, heroin, methamphetamine, a scale, and over \$12,000 cash. CP 26-33, 65, 73.

D. **ARGUMENT**

I. **THE SEARCH WARRANT AFFIDAVIT SET FORTH FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES SUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH A REASONABLE INFERENCE THAT EVIDENCE OF CRIMINAL ACTIVITY COULD BE FOUND AT THE PLACE SEARCHED.**

Under both the Constitution of the United States and Washington's Constitution, a search warrant may issue only upon a determination of probable cause. *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). "Probable cause exists if the affidavit in support of the warrant sets forth facts and circumstances sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is probably involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the crime can be found at the place to be searched." *Id.* Accordingly, probable cause requires "a nexus between criminal activity and the item to be seized, and also a nexus between the item to be seized and the place to be searched." *Id.*

Any evidence that would be helpful in the prosecution of a crime has a sufficient nexus to that crime for the purposes of issuing a search warrant. *See Messerschmidt v. Millender*, --- U.S. ----, 132 S.Ct. 1235, 1247-49, 182 L.Ed.2d 47 (2012); *Warden, Md. Penitentiary v. Hayden*, 387 U.S. 294, 307, 87 S.Ct. 1642, 18 L.Ed.2d 782 (1967) (holding that the Fourth Amendment allows a search for evidence when there is "probable cause . . . to believe that the evidence sought will aid in a particular

apprehension or conviction”). RCW 10.79.015 supports this proposition as it provides that “[a]ny . . . magistrate, when satisfied that there is reasonable cause, may . . . issue [a] search warrant in the following cases, to wit: . . . (3) *[t]o search for and seize any evidence material to the investigation or prosecution of . . . any felony.*” (emphasis added); see also CrR 2.3 (a warrant may be issued “to search for and seize *any* (1) *evidence of a crime*; or (2) contraband, *the fruits of crime*, or things otherwise criminally possessed; or (3) weapons or other things by means of which a crime has been committed or reasonably appears about to be committed. . . .”) (emphasis added).

Consequently, search warrants, in addition to authorizing a search for direct evidence of the crime at issue, may be issued to search for evidence that may “help to establish motive,” “support the bringing of additional, related charges,” or “might prove helpful in impeaching [a defendant] or rebutting various defenses he could raise at trial.” *Messerschmidt*, 132 S.Ct. at 1247-48. The “magistrate may infer the existence of [this type of] evidence from the facts and circumstances provided in the affidavit.” *State v. Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d 499, 510-11, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004) (holding there were facts in the affidavit from which the magistrate could infer the likely presence of drug dealing paraphernalia even though the affidavit was silent as to whether the informant saw those

items in the defendant's home). Such inferences from search warrant affidavits are allowed because as the Washington Supreme Court has "often stated, the affidavit is not required to establish a prima facie case of guilt, but rather a likelihood that evidence of criminal activity will be found." *Id.* at 511 (citation omitted); *Messerschmidt*, 132 S.Ct at Fn. 7 (the issuing magistrate does not need "probable cause to believe evidence will conclusively establish a fact before permitting a search, but only probable cause [] to believe the evidence sought will aid in a particular . . . conviction.") (citation and quotation omitted).

In making such a determination, a magistrate can take into account the "experience and expertise" of the officer who authored the search warrant affidavit as well as "where evidence is likely to be kept, based on the nature of the evidence and the type of offense." *Maddox*, at 511, 505; *U.S. v. Angulo-Lopez*, 791 F.2d 1394, 1399 (9th Cir. 1986). And while "generalizations regarding common habits of drug dealers, standing alone, cannot establish probable cause, such generalizations may support probable cause where a factual nexus supported by specific facts is also provided and where the generalizations are based on the affiant's experience." *Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d at 511. Furthermore, a suspect's prior convictions "may be used in determining probable cause, particularly

when a prior conviction is for a crime of the same general nature.” *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 148; *Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d at 512 (citations omitted); *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn.2d 177, 185-86, 196 P.3d 658 (2008).

Additionally, generally, an “alert by a trained drug dog is sufficient to establish probable cause for the presence of a controlled substance.” *State v. Jackson*, 82 Wn.App 594, 606, 918 P.2d 945 (1996); *State v. Flores-Moreno*, 72 Wn.App 733, 741, 866 P.2d 648 (1994) (“Probable cause to search can be established by the positive reaction of a drug sniffing dog whose reliability has been shown.”) (citation omitted). A drug dog’s reliability, for the purposes of establishing probable cause, can be proven by showing the dog has experience, received training, and is certified. *State v. Stanphill*, 63 Wn.App. 623, 769 P.2d 861 (1989); *Flores-Moreno*, 72 Wn.App. at 741; *Jackson*, 82 Wn.App. at 606. While the State acknowledges that an alert from a drug dog that is trained to alert to a controlled substance that can now be legally possessed (marijuana), among other unlawful controlled substances, diminishes the probative value of its alerts in general, it should not result in the alert being excluded from the probable cause determination altogether.

As a result, the trial court erred when it held, without citation to authority¹, that Ory's positive alerts must be excluded from the probable cause determination due to the fact that the dog could have alerted to marijuana. CP 68-69, 74-75 at Conclusion of Law #4. That state needed to only show, and did, that drug dog had the necessary experience, training, and certification to establish its reliability. Additionally, it was reasonable to assume that Ory alerted to an unlawful controlled substance in Mr. Wells's vehicle, Mr. Wells's assurances to the contrary, given that (1) Mr. Wells was meeting with a suspected methamphetamine dealer in a suspicious manner prior to the dog sniff; (2) his passenger possessed methamphetamine, (3) his passenger had an outstanding warrant for possession of a controlled substance and a conviction for possession of a controlled substance; and (4) Mr. Wells, himself, had no less than four prior convictions for possession of a controlled substance.

Here, we have a search warrant affidavit authored by a detective with training and experience in drug crimes, suspects with a history of crimes of the same general nature, specific facts linking Mr. Wells and Ms. Thomas to a methamphetamine dealer and behavior consistent with a

¹ To the extent that the trial court's references *Neth* to support its holding, that case is inapposite as the issue of the dog sniff there was disposed of by the trial court and not raised on appeal by either the appellant or respondent. 165 Wn.2d at 181 ("But inasmuch as the trial court ruled that the magistrate should not have issued the warrant based on the dog sniff because of inadequate foundation that the dog was reliable, we conclude that the dog sniff is not before us.").

drug transaction with said individual utilizing the Mr. Wells's Camaro, a small metal safe or lockbox and a leather zipper bank pouch spotted in the Camaro that Detective Stevens knows through his knowledge and experience are often used by narcotics dealers to store and/or hide controlled substances and money, the methamphetamine discovered on Ms. Thomas, and three positive alerts by the drug dog Ory. These facts and circumstances when combined with reasonable inferences provide that there was a reasonable possibility that evidence of criminal activity would be found in Mr. Wells's vehicle and that the trial court erred when it suppressed the evidence found based on its finding that the warrant was not supported by probable cause.

II. THE MAGISTRATE DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT FOUND PROBABLE CAUSE TO SEARCH MR. WELLS'S VEHICLE FOR EVIDENCE OF CRIMINAL ACTIVITY.

A judge exercises judicial discretion in determining whether to issue a search warrant. *State v. Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d 91, 108, 59 P.3d 58 (2002). That decision "is reviewed for abuse of discretion." *Id.* A search warrant, once issued, is entitled to "a presumption of validity" and reviewing courts shall accord "great deference to the magistrate's

determination of probable cause.” *State v. Chenoweth*, 160 Wn.2d 454, 477, 158 P.3d 595 (2007); *Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d at 108; *State v. O’Connor*, 39 Wn.App 113, 123, 692 P.2d 208 (1984) (“Both *the superior court* and [the Court of Appeals] are required to give great weight to a magistrate’s determination that probable cause exists . . .”) (emphasis added). As a result, “[d]oubts concerning the existence of probable cause are generally resolved in favor” of the validity of the search warrant. *Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d at 108-109; *Chenoweth*, 160 Wn.2d at 477. Moreover, reviewing courts are to examine affidavits in support of a search warrant in “a commonsense, not a hypertechinal manner.” *State v. Ollivier*, 178 Wn.2d 813, 847, 312 P.3d 1 (2013) (citations omitted). Because at a suppression hearing on a search warrant the trial court acts in an “appellate-like capacity,” a higher appellate court, while still deferring to the magistrate’s determination, reviews *de novo* the “trial court’s assessment of probable cause.” *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008) (citing *State v. Chamberlin*, 161 Wn.2d 30, 40–41, 162 P.3d 389 (2007)).

Here, the trial court failed to accord the magistrate the proper level of deference, reviewed the affidavit in support of the search warrant in a hypertechinal manner, and resolved doubts concerning the existence of probable cause against the validity of the search warrant. As established above, the search warrant affidavit supported a finding of probable cause.

Moreover, probable cause was actually found by the issuing magistrate. Nonetheless, the trial court here broke down the search warrant affidavit into its constituent parts, reviewed each part in isolation before concluding that said part or factor could not establish probable cause, and then held that probable cause did not exist without any reference to the appropriate standard of review. CP 67-70, 74-75. Such a hypertechnical review of a search warrant affidavit is contrary to the case law.

For example, the trial court noted the fact that Ms. Thomas, Mr. Wells's passenger, was found with a pipe and methamphetamine on her person following her arrest and concluded that those discoveries "do not create probable cause for evidence of narcotics dealing in Mr. Wells' vehicle" and the "fact that a small amount of drugs are found on the person of the passenger is not sufficient to justify a search of the vehicle without additional facts." CP 67, 74 at Conclusion of Law #3. Similarly, the trial court concluded that "Mr. Wells' past convictions for possession of controlled substances do not constitute probable cause" and that Mr. Wells's suspicious meeting with a drug dealer, "is innocuous and contributes nothing to probable cause." CP 69, 74 at Conclusion of Law #3. The trial court does the same thing when addressing the conclusions and generalizations of the affiant based on his experience stating that "general conclusions, standing alone, cannot establish probable cause," as

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