FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION IT

2015 JUN - 5 PM 1: 12 STATE OF WASHINGTON BY______ DEPUTY

NO. 46818-2-II

13

ĩ

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON Appellant

v.

MICHAEL FREDERICK WELLS Respondent

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO 13-1-01975-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

JAMES J. SOWDER WSBA# 9072 Attorney for Respondent 1600 Daniels Street P. O. Box 27 Vancouver, WA 98666-0027 (360) 695-4792

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

None.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was there substantial evidence to support the trial court's findings of fact?

2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in finding a fact by making a decision that was manifestly unreasonable or a decision that is on untenable grounds or untenable reasons?

3. Do the findings of fact made by the trial court support its conclusion of lack of probable cause to detain to search respondent's car?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE Procedural History

Respondent accepts Appellants statement of procedural history except as noted: In respondents motion to suppress (CP 21) he argued it was a pretextual stop. Judge Nichols ruled the stop was lawful but suppressed on other grounds.

The court prepared an order granting the motion to suppress (CP 40). It was referred to as exhibit A in the findings of fact and conclusions of law (CP 44). It appears it was not attached as an exhibit to the findings of fact and conclusions of law filed with the court.

Statement of Facts

Respondent accepts the appellant's statement of facts except as set forth below. The appellate court should consult the findings of fact and conclusions of law on Defendant's motion to suppress and order of dismissal as the primary guide for factual findings. Respondent supplements the statement of facts as follows:

The surveillance team did not observe any exchange of items between Bryan Valdez and respondent (CP 44, 40, Findings of Fact No. 4). Respondent and Nora Thomas were inside the Goodwill Store about one hour then left in the Camaro. Sergeant Hoss followed the Camaro and stopped respondent when he observed the vehicle's rear tire hit a curb (CP 44, 40, Findings of Fact No. 8).

Sergeant Hoss noticed Nora Thomas was not wearing a seat belt and discovered an outstanding warrant from the Department of Corrections. Sgt. Hoss asked Nora Thomas to step out of the vehicle which she did holding her purse. Sgt Hoss searched her purse incident to arrest outside the vehicle and discovered what appeared to be a methamphetamine pipe and a small amount of suspect methamphetamine consistent with personal use (CP 44, 40, Findings of Fact No. 9).

Respondent is detained at the scene and not free to go given his vehicle is seized by the police when he is stopped for an infraction,

investigation, and arrest of Nora Thomas (CP 44, 40).

Detective Stevens observed a small metal safe on the floor in front of the driver's seat and a leather zipper bank pouch wedged between the driver's seat and the center console (CP 44, 40, Findings of Fact No. 10). None of these items afforded a plain view of their contents.

Respondent admitted to possessing a small amount of marijuana but denied any other controlled substances (CP 44, 40, Findings of Fact No. 12).

Respondent is detained while Detective Stevens requests a K-9 unit to conduct a sniff of the vehicle. Respondent was advised he was free to go (CP 44, 40, Findings of Fact No. 13).

The K-9 dog was trained prior to Initiative 502 which legalized small amounts of marijuana. The dog, Ory, was trained to give an affirmative alert to a wide variety of controlled substances including marijuana (CP 44, 40, Findings of Fact No. 14).

The K-9 dog gave an affirmative alert to controlled substances at the passenger side door, the bottom seam on the driver's side door, near the rear of the door and the bottom front portion of the passenger door seam. The K-9 could not indicate which odor it alerted to (CP 44, 40, Findings of Fact No. 15).

A search warrant was granted, executed, and methamphetamine, marijuana, and cash were discovered. The cash was found in the small

black lock box, the marijuana was located by the driver's seat and controlled substance in the trunk (CP 44, 40, Findings of Fact No. 16).

Respondent's Additional Procedural Facts

The parties discussed the scope of the search warrant (RP 1-7). It was respondent's position the 3.6 hearing was on the basis of the search within the four corners of the affidavit for search warrant. In respondent's motion to suppress he argued the stop of his vehicle was a pretextual stop and the pretextual stop was part of the search warrant affidavit. Appellant wanted to produce evidence through live testimony. The search warrant was admitted (RP 1). The respondent noted the search warrant was based on pretextual evidence (RP 4.16). Respondent argued if the search warrant is found to be valid then the next suppression issue would be if the stop was pretextual (RP 5.11-6.6). The hearing was limited to the affidavit but the officers were allowed to testify since they were present as a result of the states subpoenas (RP 6.1-6.11).

Sergeant Duncan Hoss

Sergeant Duncan Hoss testified with the understanding the courts analysis began with the four corners of the affidavit (RP 7.1). Sgt. Hoss testified law enforcement had information that Bryan Valdez was dealing narcotics (RP 8.14). Law enforcement observed Bryan Valdez and an unknown female meet respondent and Nora Thomas at Krispy Kreme's parking lot. The females go inside Krispy Kreme and Bryan Valdez sits in the Camaro with respondent. The females exit Krispy Kreme and enter the vehicles they arrived in. Sgt. Hoss followed the Camaro from Krispy Kreme parking lot to develop additional information and to keep the Camaro in sight until the detectives had a chance to stop Bryan Valdez, interview him, and see if there was an additional crime that the Camaro had been involved in (RP 9.23-10.4). Sgt. Hoss followed the Camaro to the Goodwill Store and both the male and female go inside the store. Sgt. Hoss noted prior to going to the Goodwill he could have stopped the Camaro because there are usually traffic infractions, such as not signaling for a lane change that could be used for that purpose (RP 10.22).

While waiting in the parking lot at Goodwill Sgt. Hoss observed the female, Nora Thomas, exit the Goodwill Store, meet someone in the parking lot, get in their vehicle, drive around the parking lot once then exit the vehicle and go back inside the Goodwill Store (RP 11.10). Sgt. Hoss found that suspicious behavior because in his experience with controlled buys and confidential reliable informants they often get into cars and make strange loops around parking lots and then get out of the car (RP 11.16-11.24). Respondent and Nora Thomas exit the Goodwill Store and Sgt. Hoss observed the vehicle weaving within its lane a little bit, which he described "isn't a huge deal" but

eventually the rear passenger side tire actually struck the curb (RP 12.10). Sgt. Hoss concluded he could not follow the vehicle in good faith because he was concerned the driver was under the influence of something or at least was having some sort of issue that was not normal (RP 12.19). Sgt. Hoss stopped the vehicle and asked respondent why he struck the curb (RP 12.23). During direct examination Sgt. Hoss testified his goal was not to continue or further the narcotics investigation. He testified had he wanted to stop the car there was ample time between the Krispy Kreme and the Goodwill Store. His concern was that the driver was impaired and he didn't want to be the first witness to a collision (RP 13.10-14.6). Respondent, prior to allowing this line of questioning, objected to leading questions of the appellant concerning the nature of the stop not being a part of the narcotics investigation.

Sgt. Hoss testified he approached the car from the driver's side and observed the passenger is not wearing a seat belt. He asked for their identification. He did not notice any signs of impairment or intoxication of respondent (RP 14.14). Sgt. Hoss asked respondent why he struck the curb and respondent replied he just wasn't paying attention and was talking to the passenger (RP 14.23). Sgt. Hoss agreed that could be a possible reason why the traffic incident occurred (RP 15.2). Sgt Hoss ran a standard warrants check and found a felony warrant for arrest for Nora Thomas. He

asked her to get out of the vehicle and she exited with her purse. In a search of Nora Thomas and her belongings incident to arrest the officers found a small glass vial and a glass smoking pipe with clear crystalline substance in it (RP 15.6). By this time Detective Stevens arrived at the location and he was asked to request a narcotics dog to come sniff the car (RP 16.5). Sgt. Hoss summoned the K-9 unit because based on the "totality of what we had" it was reasonable to him there was more narcotics in the car (RP 16.10). There was an objection concerning the scope of the testimony given the focus was on the four corners of the affidavit for search warrant. The appellant was allowed to ask questions concerning why the scope of the stop was expanded. Respondent noted he wanted to make sure the court and the court of appeals understand the motion to suppress was based upon the four corners of the search warrant and it was not permissible to supplement the search warrant affidavit with any of this testimony and the court agreed (RP 17.8-17.21). Sgt. Hoss testified as to why he called for a K-9 unit. He testified based on the information he already testified to it was the next logical step in the investigation to determine if there were any more items of evidence in the vehicle, either relating to Nora Thomas and her possession of the narcotics or Mr. Valdez, or was there something else going on (RP 18.1-18.7).

On cross-examination Sgt. Hoss testified the focus of his unit, the

Tactical Detective's Unit, was to investigate everything below a homicide, below drug trafficking organizations, all the way down to serial burglaries and robberies but traffic infractions and driving while intoxicated are not the focus of the unit (RP 18.24-19.1). The members of the Tactical Detective's Unit did not know respondent prior to Bryan Valdez' contact with him (RP 19.11). There was no evidence of an exchange of packages or anything like that between Bryan Valdez and respondent (RP 20.15). Sgt. Hoss agreed there are always numerous traffic infractions you can stop about anybody for at anytime (RP 20.23-21.8). Sgt. Hoss agreed there were no significant traffic infraction to stop respondent prior to him going to Goodwill (RP 21.9). Sgt. Hoss agreed there was nothing that brought concern to him about respondent's driving.

When Sgt. Hoss observed Nora Thomas exit the Goodwill Store and get into a vehicle and drive around the parking lot in a loop it became a matter of concern (RP 21.21). Respondent was still in the Goodwill Store while this activity occurred (RP 22.17). Because of the activity of Nora Thomas and the prior connection of the Camaro and Mr. Valdez Sgt. Hoss suspected there may have been a drug transaction with Nora Thomas but did not have probable cause to stop (RP 23.5).

Prior to respondent hitting the curb there was nothing wrong with his driving that would have been of any significance for a DUI stop (RP 23.17). Sgt. Hoss agreed he stopped the car largely because he saw the tire hit the curb and was suspicious of DUI or impairment (RP 24.17). Sgt. Hoss agreed the immediate cause to detain the car was only because Nora Thomas was not wearing a seat belt (RP 25.17). The Camaro was stopped at approximately 21:12 hours (RP 26.3). Sgt. Hoss could not recall if respondent was free to go at that point (RP 26.14). The Camaro was not lawfully parked at the place it was stopped (RP 27.6). Sgt. Hoss agreed that had respondent chose to drive the car away he would have stopped him because he wasn't finished arresting Nora Thomas out of the passenger seat (RP 27.10).

During cross, Sgt. Hoss admitted he asked Detective Stevens to call for a K-9 unit at 21:19:02 hours (RP 29.6). At that time respondent was not free to go (RP 29.9). The K-9 unit cleared the scene at 21:46 hours (RP 29.14). Sgt. Hoss agreed his entire activity the day of the stop of respondent's vehicle was a narcotics investigation, prior to seeing respondent's vehicle hit the curb (RP 29.21-30.4).

Respondent Supplements From The Direct-Examination of Officer Jarod Stevens

Officer Stevens is a detective with the Tactical Detective's Unit (RP 31.17). They had learned from a confidential reliable informant that Bryan Valdez was actively possessing and dealing methamphetamine (RP 32.3).

After the respondent and Bryan Valdez's vehicles separated at Krispy Kreme Officer Stevens was part of the unit that followed Bryan Valdez' vehicle a short distance away and then initiated a traffic stop (RP 32.21). Officer Stevens testified he was enroute to assist Sgt. Hoss when Sgt. Hoss initiated his traffic stop (RP 33.3) Officer Steven's testified after Nora Thomas was in custody he contacted respondent and asked him to step out of the vehicle (RP 33.22). In the vehicle on the floor of the driver's side he observed the end of a small black metal safe and then he could see the thick, leather like zipper pouch envelopes that are often used by businesses to make bank deposits. From his training and experience he recognized the items were commonly used to store controlled substances and money (RP 34.7). At that point Officer Stevens requested a K-9, Officer Starbuck was already enroute (RP 34.11). Officer Stevens asked respondent to wait on the curb (RP 34.11). No one was allowed to go near the vehicle until the K-9 unit arrived (RP 34.14). Officer Stevens testified the purpose of calling the K-9 unit was because they had already found methamphetamine in the purse of Nora Thomas, because respondent and Nora Thomas were convicted felons for possession of controlled substance, so based on the totality of these reasons he wanted to see if there was any further controlled substance in the vehicle (RP 34.21-35.2). Officer Stevens agreed respondent was not arrested that day (RP 35.8) and eventually respondent left the scene after being told the vehicle was being seized and he was free to leave on foot (RP 35.8-35.16).

On cross-examination Officer Stevens testified he was third to arrive on the scene. Deputy Nichols was already there. Nora Thomas was not difficult while being arrested. It was not standard procedure for three officers to arrest Nora Thomas because she got out of the car with no problems (RP 36.12). Officer Steven testified there was only a small amount of crystalline substance discovered (RP 37.10). Officer Stevens testified respondent was not free to go because the vehicle was stopped and they were learning about narcotics (RP 37.24-38.6). He agreed on crossexamination respondent was not detained simply to pat him down and he was being detained for something beyond a pat down (RP 38.7-38.16). Officer Stevens agreed after the arrest of Nora Thomas the respondent was detained based on what they had testified to (RP 38.22). Officer Stevens was asked if he commanded respondent to get out of the vehicle and he said he just asked respondent to step out of the vehicle and he complied (RP 39.9). Officer Stevens said if respondent got out of the car and tried to leave he would have arrested him (RP 39.23-40.3).

Officer Stevens testified he saw no visible residue baggies, pipe, or any paraphernalia in the vehicle (RP 40.13). The lock box and the zipper bag were not illegal (RP 40.23). Respondent was detained while waiting for the K-9 unit to arrive (RP 40.22). The respondent was detained and a K-9 unit requested because methamphetamine was found in Nora Thomas' purse and because of the respondent and Nora Thomas' criminal history (RP 41.8). The K-9 dog alerted to controlled substance in the vehicle and the officers seize the vehicle (RP 41.15). Officer Stevens at that point told respondent he was free to go but prior to that he was not free to go (RP 41.15-41.23).

On cross-examination Officer Stevens agreed that Nora Thomas exiting the Goodwill Store and getting into a vehicle, driving around the parking lot, and exiting the vehicle would have been a significant to him yet he did not place it in the affidavit for search warrant. He believed such activity by Nora Thomas was consistent with a drug buy but his warrant was based off the K-9 sniff (RP 43.9-43.16). Officer Stevens testified on recross he did not have probable cause to search the vehicle but Nora Thomas was in control of her area of the car and was in control of her purse so it warranted further investigation so they detained the vehicle based on that (RP 45.4).

Respondent Supplements From The Direct-Examination of K-9 Officer Starbuck

Officer Starbuck testified as the K-9 handler (RP 45.23). During direct examination respondent objected arguing the premise for this hearing

was still within the four corners of the warrant (RP 47.18). The court agreed to limit the officer's testimony to only what he observed of the stop (RP 48.1-48.11).

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